

Expert Information

From the Working Group on Hygiene

Implication of infectious agents on results of animal experiments

Mouse Hepatitis Virus

Status May 2025

Authors: GV-SOLAS Working Group on Hygiene

Contents

Background	. 3
Prevalence	. 3
Host species	. 3
Properties	. 3
Susceptibility	. 4
Organotropism	. 4
Clinical disease	. 5
Pathology	. 5
Morbidity and mortality	. 5
Zoonotic potential	. 6
Interference with research	. 6
Oncology	. 6
Teratology	. 6
Infectiology / Interactions with other infectious agents	. 6
Immunology	. 6
Toxicology	. 7
Physiology	. 7
Cell biology	. 7
Assisted reproductive technology	. 7
Special considerations	. 7
References	. 9

Mouse Hepatitis Virus / Murine Hepatitis Virus (MHV)

Background

- First reported in 1949 as JHM strain (named after J. Howard Mueller at Harvard University) of the mouse hepatitis virus^{1,2}
- Family Coronaviridae, genus Coronavirus^{1,3}
- Enveloped single-stranded RNA virus, with a corona of surface projections (spikes)^{1,3}
- Antigenetically related to rat coronaviruses and other coronaviruses of pigs, cattle and humans³
- Different strains or isolates of MHV have been described, of which the following have been studied most extensively and are considered the prototype strains: MHV 1, -2, -3, -4 (=JHM); A59 and S 1¹; MHV-3 is regarded as the most virulent.³
- MHV mutants rapidly and new sub strains are constantly evolving.³
- Among the three major structural proteins of MHV, nucleoprotein N is moderately and membrane glycoprotein M highly conserved among MHV strains, whereas spike glycoprotein S is very variable.⁴
- The external domain of glycoprotein S is subdivided and the S1 domain contains hypervariable regions that contribute to antigenic variation, tissue tropism, and virulence; it binds to specific host cell receptors, induces neutralizing antibodies, binds antibodies and solicits cell-mediated immunity.¹

Prevalence

- In the 1980th the prevalence of MHV in laboratory mice worldwide was 80%.¹
- In a study conducted in 2009 by one of the leading commercial rodent diagnostic laboratories, 1.57% of the mouse serum samples submitted from institutions in North America were positive for MHV antibodies.⁵
- In Europe, prevalence rates in mouse colonies in 2009 ranged from 3.25% ⁵ to 5.5%.⁶

Host species

- Natural host of the virus is the mouse (*Mus musculus*).^{1,3}
- MHV can be found in wild and laboratory mice.^{3,7}
- MHV is one of the most prevalent viral pathogens in research mouse colonies.³

Properties

- MHV might remain infective in mouse colonies for several days, at low humidity (20% rH) or low temperature (4°C) on surfaces even for weeks.³
- MHV is extremely contagious; it is shed in feces and nasopharyngeal secretions and appears to be transmitted via direct contact, aerosol and fomites.^{1,3}
- MHV is a common contaminant of transplantable tumors and cell lines.^{1,3}
- MHV is sufficiently transferred to sentinel mice via soiled bedding,^{8,9} especially the enterotropic virus strains.^{2,3}
- Persistent transmission of MHV from MHV-seropositive transgenic mice for over two years was described⁸

- Another study reported the persistent transmission of MHV from tumor necrosis factor (TNF) knockout mice B.6129S1-Tnf^{tm1Lj}(TNF-/-) over a period of five month; the virus was transferred to nude sentinels by direct contact and also in some cases to immunocompetent mice after only 24 h of direct contact.¹⁰
- Transmission of MHV-Y-inoculated BALB/c mice to sentinels was described after oneday contact with the mice or one-week contact with soiled bedding.¹¹

Susceptibility

- Wild and laboratory mice^{3,7}
- All ages and strains are susceptible to active infection, but disease is mainly age related (enterotropic strains in neonatal mice can cause severe enterocolitis with high mortality whereas adult mice develop minimal lesions).³
- Differences depending on mice strains, e.g. BALB/c mice highly susceptible to enterotropic MHV, developing early and severe disease, while SJL mice more resistant (to certain virus strains)^{3,12,13}
- The resistance in SJL mice is not caused by receptor dysfunction.¹⁴
- Mouse genotypes susceptible to disease caused by one MHV strain may be resistant to disease caused by another virus strain.³
- Recovered mice are resistant to reinfection with the same but remain susceptible to infection with another MHV strain.³
- Immunodeficient mice such as Foxn1^{nu} or Prkdc^{scid} mice cannot clear the virus.³
- Other genetically modified mouse strains with deficits in antiviral response may develop persistent MHV infection.^{3,8}
- Suckling rats were susceptible for experimental infection with MHV including seroconversion, but did not develop clinical disease.^{3,15}
- Also, deer mice (*Peromycus maniculatus*) showed seroconversion but no clinical disease after experimental infection.³

Organotropism

- Two biotypes, based on primary organotropism: enterotropic strains and respiratory (polytropic) strains; also, intermediate forms exist^{3,16}
- Respiratory tropism: initial infection of nasal mucosa, may disseminate via blood and lymphatic strains to a variety of other organs (polytropic)³
- Secondary replication in vascular epithelium and parenchymal tissues, causing disease of brain, liver, lymphoid organs, bone marrow and others³
- Respiratory (polytropic) strains include MHV-1, MHV-2, MHV-3, A59, S and JHM.³
- Some MHV-strains show a strong neurotropism with demyelinating or nondemyelinating effects; demyelinating virus strains are e.g. MHV-A59 and JHM.^{17,18,19}
- Enterotropic strains: selective infection of intestinal mucosa with no or minimal dissemination to other organs such as mesenteric lymph nodes or liver³; virus strains related to enteric disease pattern are e.g. MHV-D or Y¹
- Homberger et al. found the enterotropic MHV-biotypes to be predominant in contemporary laboratory mouse colonies.¹⁶

Clinical disease

- Most MHV infections in immunocompetent mice are subclinical.^{1,3}
- Clinical disease can occur when the virus is introduced to a naïve population and can spready rapidly.³
- Clinical signs depend on virus and mouse strains and are most evident in infant mice.³
- Clinical signs can include diarrhea, poor growth, lassitude and death.³
- Flaccid paralysis of hindlimbs, convulsions and circling are possible neurologic signs caused by some virus strains.³
- Subclinical infection can be activated by experimental procedure such as thymectomy, whole body irradiation, treatment with chemotherapeutic agents, halothane anaesthesia or by coinfection with other pathogens (e.g. K-virus, *Eperythrozoon coccoides*).³
- Duration of infection and disease manifestation vary depending on mouse and virus strain.^{3,12}
- Polytropic and enterotropic MHV infections are self-limiting in immunocompetent mice; elimination of virus begins ca. 1 week and is complete approx. 3-4 weeks after infection.³
- Humoral and cellular immunity needed; especially functional T-cells required for immune defence³
- A study of Compton et al. in B cell-deficient (μMT) and T cell-deficient (Tcrβδ⁻) mice supported the concept that B cells promote clearance of enterotropic MHV-Y strains from intestinal mucosa and that T cells are required to prevent dissemination of enterotropic MHV strains from gastrointestinal tract.²⁰
- Athymic mice can develop severe generalized disease with emaciation leading to debility and death (wasting disease) with diarrhea as the leading clinical sign in cases with enterotropic MHV strains.¹

Pathology

- In most natural infections gross lesions are not present or transient.³
- Gross findings in neonates with clinical signs include dehydration, emaciation, empty stomach (in contrast to EDIM)³
- Furthermore, distended intestine filled with watery to mucoid yellowish contents can be found, haemorrhage or rupture of the intestine can occur.³
- BALB mice experimentally inoculated with MHV at the age of 24 h developed severe necrotizing enterocolitis.¹²
- Necrotic foci of liver and thymus involution can be seen in susceptible mice depending on virus strain.³
- Lesions in the liver can be combined with jaundice and haemorrhagic peritoneal exsudate; compensatory splenomegaly possible.³
- Experimental infection of C57BL/6 mice with MHV-A59 and recombinant virus (MHVinf-1) caused acute hepatitis, acute meningoencephalitis, and chronic demyelination similar to the human disease multiple sclerosis.²¹

Morbidity and mortality

• Depending on virus and mouse strain, see also above under Clinical disease

- Mortality can reach 100% in infant mice infected with virulent enterotropic MHV strains.^{1,3}
- Infection with virulent polytropic strains is often rapidly fatal in immunodeficient mice (e.g. Foxn1^{nu} or Prkdc^{scid}).³
- Experimental infection with high doses of MHV-A59 and recombinant virus (MHV-inf-1) caused high mortality rates up to 100% in 4-week-old C57BL/6 mice.²¹

Zoonotic potential

No data

Interference with research

Oncology

- Contamination of transplantable tumors²²
- Abnormal tumor invasion pattern, abnormal tumor passage intervals, spontaneous regression or oncolysis of normally stable tumors^{23,24,25,26,27}
- Rejection of human xenografts²⁸
- Altered response to chemical carcinogens²⁹

Teratology

No data

Infectiology / Interactions with other infectious agents

- Reduced susceptibility for other viral infections (PVM, Sendai)³⁰
- Potentiation of subclinical MHV infections by urethane and methylformamide²⁴, halothane³¹, transplantation of tumors³²
- Enhances resistance to Salmonella typhimurium in mice by inducing suppression of bacterial growth³³
- Helicobacter hepaticus appeared to reduce the severity of MHV-induced lesions during the acute phase of (experimental) infection in gamma interferon-deficient mice.³⁴
- Can increase susceptibility to other infectious agents (and vice versa) such as *Eperythrozoon coccoides*, K-virus, *Schistosoma mansoni*¹
- Alters the course of concurrent viral infections due to pneumonia virus of mice or Sendai virus; diminishes the production of interferon in response to infection with sendai virus^{1,30,35}

Immunology

- MHV has the capacity to grow in several types of immune cells.³⁶
- Immunodepression and immunostimulation depending on the time of infection³⁵ MHV replicates in macrophages and with or without lysis in both B and T lymphocytes.^{37,38,39}
- Enhanced and suppressed macrophage function^{40,41} and dysfunction of T and B cells^{42,43,44,45} was observed.
- Activation of natural killer (NK) cells and alteration of the interferon responsiveness of infected mice^{35,46}

- Reduced levels of cytokines, interleukins and gamma interferon in spleen cells⁴⁴
 Recovered mice have complete or partial protection against T cell dysfunctions when re-infected with different strains of MHV.⁴⁷
- Macrophage dysfunctions continue in MHV-recovered mice.⁴⁰
- MHV infection can durably modify unrelated T cell responses that are initiated at the time of infection.⁴⁸
- Permanent decrease of skin graft rejection and T cell dependent antibody responses after recovering from MHV-A59 infection⁴⁹
- Enhancement of concomitant autoimmune reactions⁵⁰

Toxicology

No data

Physiology

- Alteration of liver enzyme levels, patterns of protein synthesis and other biochemical markers^{29,51}
- Induces production of alpha-fetoprotein⁵² and increase of iron uptake⁵³
- Changes in peripheral blood such as anemia, thrombocytopenia, leukopenia and increased monocyte procoagulant activity^{54,52}
- Decrease of the incidence of diabetes in non-obese diabetic mice⁵⁵

Cell biology

No data

Assisted reproductive technology

 Persistent contamination of embryonic stem cells without diminishing their pluripotency⁵⁶

Special considerations

- Relatively resistant to repeated freezing and thawing, heating and acid pH^{1,3}
- Sensitive to drying and disinfectants³
- All known MHV strains cross react in serological tests such as ELISA and IFA; the antibody response can depend on the mouse strain and genotype; for example, DBA/2 mice produce less antibodies than C57BL/6; the latter are, therefore, good sentinels regarding MHV detection.³
- Antibody titres are detectable from ca. 2 weeks after initial infection and remain high for at least 6 month.³
- Antibodies are transferred to pups in utero and via milk.⁴
- Maternal antibodies against MHV (IgG) may be present in pups up to the age of 10 weeks.^{3,4}
- The best means of MHV control is to prevent its entry into a facility; if infection occurs, caesarean rederivation or embryo transfer can be used, cross-fostering was also reported.^{3,57}
- A review from 2001 describes that inoculation of mice with most neurotropic strains of MHV results in an immune response-mediated demyelinating disease that serves as an excellent animal model for the human disease multiple sclerosis; it was also shown

that either virus-specific CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ T cells are able to mediate the demyelination; there is an association between viral persistence in the CNS and chronic immune stimulation, which ultimately results in neuropathology.¹³

Updated by Christina Simon, Basel, May 2025

References

- Committee on Infectious Diseases of Mice and Rats, Institute of Laboratory Animal Resources, Commission on Life Sciences, National Research Council. 1991. Mouse Hepatitis Virus. In: Infectious Diseases of Mice and Rats. II. Individual Disease Agents and Their Effects on Research.
 7. Digestive System. Washington, D.C: National Academy Press, pp.102-111.
- Barthold SW, Smith AL. 2007. Mouse Hepatitis Virus. In: Fox JG, Barthold W, Davisson MT, Newcomer CE, Quimby FW, Smith AL (eds) The Mouse in Biomedical Research. Diseases. 2nd edition vol. 2. New York: Elsevier Academic Press, pp.141-178.
- 3. Nicklas W, Bleich A, Mähler M. 2012. Viral infections of Laboratory Mice. In: Hedrich, HJ (ed) The Laboratory Mouse. 2nd edition. London: Elsevier Academic Press, pp.453-454.
- 4. Homberger FR. 1992. Maternally-derived passive immunity to enterotropic mouse hepatitis virus. Arch Virol 122:133-141.
- 5. Pritchett-Corning KR, Cosentino J, Clifford CB. 2009. Contemporary prevalence of infectious agents in laboratory mice and rats. Lab Anim 43(2):165-173.
- 6. Maehler M, Koehl W. 2009. A serological survey to evaluate contemporary prevalence of viral agents and *Mycoplasma pulmonis* in laboratory mice and rats in Western Europe. Lab Anim 38(5):161-165.
- 7. Locklear J, Thigpen JE, Caviness GF, Whiteside T, Saunders H, Grant, M, Forsythe D. 2011. The incidence of Mouse Hepatitis Virus and Helicobacter Species in Wild Rodents and Wildlife Species around an Animal Research Facility. J Am Assoc Lab Anim Sci 50(5):799.
- 8. Rehg JE, Blackman, MA, Toth, LA. 2001. Persistent Transmission of Mouse Hepatitis Virus by Transgenic Mice. Comp Med 51(4):369-374.
- 9. Smith PC, Nucifora M, Reute JD, Compton SR. 2007. Reliability of soiled bedding transfer for detection of mouse Parvovirus and MHV. Comp Med 57(1):90-96.
- Pullium JK, Homberger FR, Benjamin KA, Dillehay DL, Huerkamp MJ. 2003. Conformed Persistent Mouse hepatitis Virus Infection and Transmission by Mice with a Targeted Null Mutation of Tumor Necorsis Factor to Sentinels Mice, Using Short-term Exposure. Comp Med 53(4):439-443.
- 11. Compton SR, Ball-Goodrich LJ, Paturzo FX, Macy JD. 2004. Transmission of Entertropic Mouse Hepatitis Virus from Immunocompetent and Immunodeficient Mice. Comp Med 54(1):29-35.
- 12. Barthold SW, Beck DS, Smith AL. 1993. Enterotropic coronavirus (mouse hepatitis virus) in mice: influence of host age and strain on infection and disease. Lab Anim Sci 43(4):276-284.
- 13. Haring J, Perlman S. 2001. Mouse Hepatitis Virus. Curr Opin Microbiol. 4(4): 462–466.
- Yokomori K, Lai MCM. 1992. The Receptor for Mouse Hepatitis Virus in the Resistant Mouse Strain SJL Is Functional: Implications for the requirement of a Second Factor for Viral Infection. J. Virol. 66(12):6931-6938.
- 15. Taguchi F, Yamada A, Fujuwara K. 1979. Asymptomatic Infection of Mouse hepatitis Virus in the Rat. Arch Virol 59:275-279.
- 16. Homberger FR, Zhang L, Barthold SW. 1998. Prevalence of enterotropic and polytropic mouse hepatitis virus in enzootically infected mouse colonies. Lab Anim Sci 48(1):50-54.
- 17. Das Sarma J, Iacono K, Gard L, Marek R, Kenyon LC, Koval M, Weiss SR. 2008. Demyelinating and Nondemyelinating Strains of Mouse Hepatitis Virus differ in Their Neural Cell Tropism. J Virol 82(11):5519-5526.
- 18. Wang FI, Stohlman SA, Fleming O. 1990. Demyelination induced by murine hepatitis virus JHM strain (MHV-4) is immunologically mediated. J Neurol 30:31-41.

- Lavi E, Gilden DH, Highkin MK, Weiss SR. 1984. Persistence of mouse hepatitis virus A59 RNA in a slow virus demyelinating infection in mice as detected by in situ hybridization. J Virol 51(2):563– 566. doi: 10.1128/jvi.51.2.563-566.
- Compton SR, Ball-Goodrich LJ, Johnson LK, Johnson EA, Paturzo FX, Macy JD. 2004. Pathogenesis of Enterotropic Mouse Hepatitis Virus in Immunocompetent and Immunodeficient Mice. Comp Med 54(6):681-689.
- 21. Coley SE, Lavi E, Sawicki SG, Fu L, Schelle B, Karl N, Siddell SG, Thiel V. 2005. Recombinant mouse hepatitis virus strain A59 from cloned, full-length cDNA replicates to high titers in vitro and is fully pathogenic in vivo. J Virol 79(5):3097-106.
- 22. Nicklas W, Kraft V, Meyer B. 1993. Contamination of transplantable tumors, cell lines, and monoclonal antibodies with rodent viruses. Lab Anim Sci 43:296-300.
- 23. Akimaru K, Stuhlmiller GM, Seigler HF. 1981. Influence of mouse hepatitis virus on the growth of human melanoma in the peritoneal cavity of the athymic mouse. J Surg Oncol 17:327-339.
- 24. Braunsteiner H, Friend C. 1954. Viral hepatitis associated with transplantable mouse leukemia. I. Acute hepatic manifestations following treatment with urethane or methylformamide. J Exp Med 100:665-677.
- 25. Fox JG, Murphy JC, Igras VE. 1977. Adverse effects of mouse hepatitis virus on ascites myeloma passage in the BALB/c mouse. Lab Anim Sci 27:173-179.
- 26. Manaker RA, Piczak CV, Miller AA, Stanton MF. 1961. A hepatitis virus complicating studies with mouse leukemia. J Nat Cancer Inst 27:29-51.
- 27. Nelson JB. 1959. Emergence of hepatitis virus in mice infected with ascites tumor. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 102:357-360.
- 28. Kyriazis AP, DiPersio L, Michael JG, Pesce AJ. 1979. Influence of the mouse hepatitis virus (MHV) infection on the growth of human tumors in the athymic mouse. Int. J. Cancer 23:402-409.
- 29. Barthold SW. 1986. Research complications and state of knowledge of rodent coronaviruses. In: Hamm TF (ed). Complications of viral and mycoplasmal infections in rodents to toxicology research testing. Washington, D.C.: Hemisphere Press, pp.53-89.
- 30. Carrano V, Barthold SW, Beck DL, Smith AL. 1984. Alteration of viral respiratory infections of mice by prior infection with mouse hepatitis virus. Lab Anim Sci 34:573-576.
- 31. Moudgil GC. 1973. Influence of halothane on mortality from murine hepatitis virus (MHV 3). Brit J Anaesth 45:1236.
- 32. Barthold SW. 1986. Mouse hepatitis virus biology and epizootiology. In: Bhatt PN, Jacoby RO, Morse AC, and New AE (eds). Viral and mycoplasmal infection of laboratory rodents: Effects on biomedical research. Orlando: Academic Press, pp.571-601.
- Fallon MT, Benjamin WH, Jr, Schoeb TR, Briles D. 1991. Mouse hepatitis virus strain UAB infection enhances resistance to Salmonella typhimurium in mice by inducing suppression of bacterial growth. Infect Immun 59:852-856.
- Compton SR, Ball-Goodrich LJ, Zeiss CJ, Johnson LK, Johnson EA, Macy JD. 2003. Pathogenesis of Mouse Hepatitis Virus Infection in Gamma Interferon-Deficient Mice Is Modulated by Co-infection with Helicobacter hepaticus. Comp Med 53(2):197-206.
- 35. Virelizier JL, Virelizier AM, Allison AC. 1976. The role of circulating interferon in the modifications of the immune responsiveness to mouse hepatitis virus (MHV-3). J Immunol 117:748-753.
- 36. Compton SR, Barthold SW, Smith AL. 1993. The cellular and molecular pathogenesis of coronaviruses. Lab Anim Sci 43(1):15-28.

- 37. Bang FB, Warwick A. 1960. Mouse macrophages as host cells for mouse hepatitis virus and the genetic basis of their susceptibility. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 46:1065-1075.
- 38. de Souza, MS, Smith A. 1991. Characterization of accessory cell function during acute infection of BALB/cByJ mice with mouse hepatitis virus (MHV) strain JHM. Lab Anim Sci 41:112-118.
- 39. Lamontage LM, Descoteaux JP, Jolicoeur P. 1989. Mouse hepatitis virus 3 replication in T and B lymphocytes correlate with viral pathogenicity. J Immunol 142:4458-4465.
- 40. Boorman GA, Luster MI, Dean JH, Cambell ML, Lauer LA, Talley FA, Wilson RE, Collins MJ. 1982. Peritoneal and macrophage alterations caused by naturally occurring mouse hepatitis virus. Am J Pathol 106:110-117.
- 41. Dempsey WL, Smith AL, Morahan PS. 1986. Effect of inapparent murine hepatitis virus infections on macrophages and host resistance. J Leukocyte Biol 39:559-565.
- 42. Casebolt DB, Spalding DM, Schoeb TR, Lindsey JR. 1987. Suppression of immune response induction in Peyer's patch lymphoid cells from mice infected with mouse hepatitis virus. Cell Immunol 109:97-103.
- 43. Cook-Mills JM, Munshi HG, Perlman RL, Chambers DA. 1992. Mouse hepatitis virus infection suppresses modulation of mouse spleen T -cell activation. Immunology 75:542-545.
- de Souza MS, Smith AL, Bottomly K. 1991. Infection of BALB/cByJ mice with the JHM strain of mouse hepatitis virus alters in vitro splenic T cell proliferation and cytokine production. Lab Anim Sci 41:99-105.
- 45. Smith AL, Winograd DF, de Souza MS. 1991. In vitro splenic T cell responses of diverse mouse genotypes after oronasal exposure to mouse hepatitis virus, strain JHM. Lab Anim Sci 41:106-111.
- 46. Schindler L, Engler H, Kirchner H. 1982. Activation of natural killer cells and induction of interferon after infection of mouse hepatitis virus type 3 in mice. Infect Immun 35:869-873.
- 47. Smith AL, de Souza MS, Finzi D, Barthold SW. 1992. Responses of mice to murine coronavirus immunization. Arch Virol 125:36-52.
- 48. Coutelier JP, van der Logt JT, Heessen FW.1991. IgG subclass distribution of primary and secondary immune responses concomitant with viral infection. J Immunol 147:1383-1386.
- 49. Cray C, Mateo MO, Altman NH. 1993. In vitro and long-term in vivo immune dysfunction after infection of BALB/c mice with mouse hepatitis virus strain A59. Lab Anim Sci 43:169-174.
- 50. Lardans V, Godfraind C, van der Logt JT, Heessen WA, Gonzalez MD, Coutelier JP. 1996. Polyclonal B lymphocyte activation induced by mouse hepatitis virus A59 infection. J Gen Virol 77:1005-1009.
- Lucchiari MA, Pereira CA, Kuhn L, Lefkovits I. 1992. The pattern of proteins synthesized in the liver is profoundly modified upon infection of susceptible mice with mouse hepatitis virus 3. Res. Virol 143:231-240.
- 52. Piazza M, Piccinio F, Matano F. 1965. Hematological changes in viral (MHV -3) murine hepatitis. Nature 205:1034-1035.
- 53. Tiensiwakul P, Husain SS. 1979. Effect of mouse hepatitis virus infection on iron retention in the mouse liver. Brit. J Exp Pathol 60:161-166.
- 54. Levy GA, Leibowitz JL, Edgington TS. 1981. Induction of monocyte procoagulant activity by murine hepatitis virus type 3 parallels disease susceptibility in mice. J Exp Med 154:1150-1163.
- Wilberz SH, Partke J, Dagnaes-Hansen F, Herberg L. 1991. Persistent MHV (mouse hepatitis virus) infection reduces the incidence of diabetes mellitus in non-obese diabetic mice. Diabetologia 34:2-5.

- 56. Okumura A, Machii K, Azuma S, Toyoda Y, Kyuwa S. 1996. Maintenance of pluripotency in mouse embryonic stem cells persistently infected with murine coronavirus. J Virol 70:4146-49.
- 57. Lipman NS, Newcomer CE, Fox JG. 1987. Rederivation of MHV and MEV antibody positive mice by cross-fostering and use of the microisolator cage system. Lab Anim Sci 37(2):195-199.

Disclaimer

The use and application of the publications (technical information, statements, booklets, recommendations, etc.) of the Gesellschaft für Versuchstierkunde GV-SOLAS and the implementation of the information and content contained therein is expressly at the user's own risk.

GV-SOLAS and the authors cannot accept any liability for any accidents or damage of any kind resulting from the use of the publication.

GV-SOLAS accepts no liability for damages of any kind arising from the use of the website and the downloading of templates. GV-SOLAS is also not liable for direct or indirect consequential damages, loss of data, loss of profit, system or production losses.

Liability claims against GV-SOLAS and the authors for material or immaterial damage caused by the use or non-use of the information or by the use of incorrect and/or incomplete information are fundamentally excluded.

Claims for damages against the Gesellschaft für Versuchstierkunde GV-SOLAS as well as against the authors are therefore excluded.

The works, including all content, have been compiled with the greatest scientific care. Nevertheless, GV-SOLAS and the authors do not assume any guarantee or liability for the topicality, correctness, completeness and quality of the information provided, nor for printing errors.

No legal responsibility or liability in any form can be assumed by GV-SOLAS and the authors for incorrect information and any resulting consequences.

Furthermore, the operators of the respective websites are solely responsible for the content of the websites printed in these publications.

GV-SOLAS and the authors have no influence on the design and content of third-party websites and therefore distance themselves from all third-party content.